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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X 

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN

Applicant
:
Mr John Macklin

Scheme
:
The Pointing Limited Pension Fund (the Scheme)

Respondent
:
The Trustees of the Scheme (the Trustees)

MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION

1. Mr Macklin alleges that the Trustees have incorrectly calculated his pension benefits, and as a result he has received an incorrect quotation of a cash equivalent transfer value. In addition, he has complained about the Trustees' handling of his queries and the internal dispute procedure. In particular, he claims that as a result of delays by the Trustees, his pension benefits may be further reduced. He alleges that, as well as financial loss, he has suffered as a result of uncertainty over the level of his pension benefits.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both. I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them. This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF THE SCHEME

3. "3. CONTRIBUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS

3.2(a) Each Member is required to contribute at such a rate as determined by the employer and notified in writing to the Member. No rate of contribution determined under this sub-rule may be altered before the expiry of a period of 12 months from the date on which the first payment at the current rate became due without the specific agreement of the Board of the Inland Revenue.'''

4.
"S3 PENSIONABLE SALARY AND FINAL PENSIONABLE SALARY
The Pensionable Salary is equal to the amount of the Member's gross earnings from this employment in the year ending on the 30th June immediately preceding the date on which the Member's Pensionable Salary is being determined. Pensionable Salary shall be determined on 1st July each year.

Provided, however, that in the case of a Member who has been employed for less than a complete year ending on 30th June the Pensionable Salary shall be 12 times the basic monthly pay or 52 times the basic weekly pay of the Member at the date his employment commences excluding all other emoluments.

The Final Pensionable Salary shall be the highest average of any three consecutive Pensionable Salaries (or such lesser number taken to the lower complete number as corresponds with the actual period since the 1st July coinciding with or next following the date the Member first satisfied all the conditions in Supplementary Rule S 1 above) out of the ten (or less) immediately preceding the Normal Retirement Date, or, if earlier, the date the Member's pensionable employment ceases."

5. "S4 PENSION BENEFITS
2.The pension of a Member whose pensionable employment ceases prior to the Normal Retirement Date shall be one-twelfth of one-sixtieth part of his Final Pensionable Salary for each month (taken to the higher month) of Service as a Member to the date pensionable employment ceases.
The pension, less any GMP, as described in the Overriding Appendix (hereinafter called the Preserved Pension), in respect of a Member whose pensionable employment ceases at least 365 days before his Normal Retirement Date, shall be increased at that date by an amount (based on the lesser percentage increase in prices or 5% per annum compound and referred to as the Appropriate Amount) determined in accordance with the following formulae:-
A.
In the case of a Member who leaves Service on or after 1" January 1991
A
x
D

Where A = the revaluation percentage determined from the orders made under the Social Security Act 1985
D = the Preserved Pension

6.
"10 ADMINISTRATION AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

10.7

Until such time as the Deed or the Rules has or have been so varied, the Trustees shall have the power to operate the Scheme on the basis which has been announced in writing to those Members affected by such variation."
10.9
Subject as hereinafter provided the Principal Employer may from time to time and at any time with the consent of the Trustees by any deed or deeds executed by the Principal Employer and the Trustees alter or add to all or any of the provisions of the Rules provided that:-

(i)
no such alteration or addition as aforesaid shall be permissible if it would operate to effect any change in the main purpose or object of the Scheme as set forth in the Definitive Trust Deed, or if it would result in the Approval of the Scheme being withdrawn or if it would result in the continuing of the trusts of the Scheme beyond the Ultimate Dissolution Date as described in Clause 3; and
(ii)
no such alteration or addition as aforesaid shall be made which would affect prejudicially any benefits then already provided in respect of any Member without his consent in writing."

7.
Mr Macklin had joined the Scheme prior to 1987 and was therefore, for the purpose of Inland Revenue limits, a Class C Member. The following rules are therefore applicable:
14.8
"The Member's Aggregate Retirement Benefit shall not exceed:​-

d. on leaving Pensionable Service before Normal Retirement Date, a pension of 1/60th  of Final Remuneration for each year of Service prior to leaving Pensionable Service (not exceeding 40 years) or such greater amount as will not prejudice Approval. The amount computed as aforesaid may be increased by 5% for each complete year or if greater in proportion to any increase in the Index which has occurred between the date of termination of Pensionable Service and the date on which the pension begins to become payable. Any further increase necessary to comply with Social Security legislation is also allowable."

8.
Final Remuneration is defined thus:

Final Remuneration shall mean the greater of:
a. the highest remuneration upon which tax liability has been determined for any of the 5 years preceding the Relevant Date being the aggregate of​

(i) the basic pay in question, and

(ii) the yearly average over 3 or more consecutive years ending with the expiry of the corresponding basic pay year, of any Fluctuating Emoluments provided that Fluctuating Emoluments of a year other than the basic pay year may be increased in proportion to the increase in the Index from the last day of that year up to the last day of the basic pay year. Remuneration that is received after the Relevant Date and upon which tax liability has been determined will be treated as Fluctuating Emoluments (providing it was earned or qualified for prior to the Relevant Date). In these circumstances it may be included provided the yearly average of 3 or more consecutive years begins no later than the commencement of the basic pay year; or

b.
the yearly average of the total emoluments from the employer which are assessable to income tax under Case I or Case II of Schedule E and upon which tax liability has been determined for any 3 or more consecutive years ending not earlier than 10 years before the Relevant Date. Where such emoluments are earned or qualified for prior to that date, they may be included provided that in these circumstances the yearly average of 3 or more consecutive years begins no later than the commencement of the year ending with the Relevant Date.

Provided that -
i. remuneration and total emoluments do not include any amounts which arise from the acquisition or disposal of shares or an interest in shares or from a right to acquire shares (except where the shares or rights etc which give rise to such an amount liable to tax under Schedule E had been acquired before 17 March 1987) or anything in respect of which tax is chargeable by virtue of section 148 of the Act

ii. relation to an Excepted Director, Final Remuneration shall be the amount ascertained in accordance with b. above and a. above shall not apply;
iii.
in relation to any other employee whose remuneration in any year subsequent to 5 April 1987 used for the purpose of calculating benefits has exceeded £100,000 (or such other figure as may be prescribed by the Treasury), Final Remuneration shall not exceed the amount ascertained in accordance with b. above and a. above shall not apply, unless the individual chooses to adopt £100,000 (or such other figure as may be prescribed by the Treasury);
iii. where Final Remuneration is computed by reference to any year other than the last complete year ending on the Relevant Date, the Member's remuneration or total emoluments of any year may be increased in proportion to any increase in the Index from the last date of that year up to the Relevant Date. For a Class C Member this proviso shall not apply to the calculation of the maximum Lump Sum Retirement Benefit unless the Member's aggregate total benefits are similarly increased beyond the maximum amount which could have been paid but for this proviso and/or the first sentence of a.ii. above and then only to the same proportionate extent.

9.
Fluctuating Emoluments and Relevant Date are defined thus:
"Fluctuating Emoluments are any part of an employee's earnings which are not paid on a fixed basis and are additional to the basic wage or salary. They include overtime, commission, bonuses or benefits in kind as long as they are assessable to tax under Case I or II of Schedule E and profit related pay (see proviso viii. to definition of Final Remuneration) Directors' fees may rank as fluctuating emoluments according to the basis on which they are voted."
"Relevant Date shall mean the date of retirement, leaving Pensionable Service or death as the case may be.

10.
The definitions for pensionable salary and final pensionable salary in the pensions booklet relating to Mr Macklin are slightly different and as follows:

Final Pensionable Salary
"Your Final Pensionable Salary will be the average of your three highest consecutive Pensionable Salaries in the ten years (or such smaller number of complete years as you have been a member of the scheme for pension benefits) immediately prior to your Normal Retirement Date or the date pensionable employment ceases if earlier."'

Pensionable Salary
"Your Pensionable Salary is the salary on which your cash sum death benefit is based. It is equal to 12 times your basic monthly pay or 52 times your basic weekly pay on the date you joined the scheme. It will be revised on 1" April each year to take into account any alterations in your pay that have occurred.
If you are also remunerated by way of fluctuating emoluments there will also be included in your Pensionable Salary the average amount of fluctuating emoluments paid to you during the last year (or such shorter period as you have been in receipt of such remuneration) ending on 31st March preceding the date on which your Pensionable Salary is being determined."

11.
The Scheme Booklet's (the Booklet) section headed "4. What will it Cost" is also relevant:
"4.
WHAT WILL IT COST?
In order to participate in the scheme you will be required to contribute 5% of your Pensionable Salary per annum. If you pay Income Tax the cost to you is actually lower. This contribution represents only a portion of the cost of your pension benefits as the greater part of the cost of the scheme will be met by the Company... "

MATERIAL FACTS

12.
Mr Macklin was first employed by Pointing Ltd (PL) on 9 September 1968 and joined the Scheme on 1 July 1969.  PL is the Principal Employer of the Scheme.
13.
On 31 March 1994 Mr Macklin entered into an employment agreement (the Employment Agreement) with Pointings Holdings Limited (PHL). Under the terms of the agreement Mr Macklin was appointed executive director of PHL. Under the Employment Agreement, Mr Macklin was employed to: 
"...perform such duties and exercise such powers in relation to the business of the Company or of any Group Company as may from time to time be assigned to or vested in him by the Board and shall at all times and in all respects conform to and comply with the reasonable directions and regulations made by the Board. The Executive shall perform such services for any Group Company without further remuneration (except as otherwise agreed) and shall accept such offices in any such company or companies as the Board may require..."

14. The term "Group Company" included any subsidiary or holding company. At this time PL was a subsidiary company of PHL.

15. The Memorandum of Association of PHL includes the following as its objects:

“3
(a)
To carry on business as a general commercial company.

(b)
To carry out any activity and to effect any transaction whatsoever whether or not that activity or transaction is incidental or conducive to the carrying on of any trade or business by the Company.”

16. The Employment Agreement contained the following wording in relation to bonuses: 

"In addition to the salary payable under clause 3.1, the Executive shall be entitled to receive a bonus calculated and payable in accordance with the terms of the First Schedule hereto or as otherwise from time to time specified by the Board."

17. The First Schedule of the Employment Agreement set out the details of the directors' profit share scheme. The reference to pension merely referred to the fact that Mr Macklin was entitled to be a member of the Scheme.
18. By a deed of adherence dated 27 May 1994 PHL became a participating employer of the Scheme with effect from 1 April 1993. Mr Macklin acting in his capacity as a director of both companies signed this Deed on behalf of PHL and PL.

19. By a letter dated 2 April 1997, Wilkinson Maughan (which later became the Newcastle office of Eversheds) acknowledged their appointment as legal advisers to the Scheme.
20. On 14 May 1998 Eversheds wrote to PHL enclosing a first draft of an agreement between Mr Macklin and PHL. Under the terms of the agreement Mr Macklin was entitled to a bonus (the Bonus) payable based on a notional shareholding in PHL on its sale or reorganisation (the Phantom Share Agreement). In the covering letter to the draft Eversheds stated:
"The intention is that he will receive a bonus in certain circumstances which is identical to the financial return he would have received had he been a shareholder with a holding of 600 shares."

21. On 17 June 1998 the Phantom Share Agreement was executed by PHL and Mr Macklin.
22. Eversheds were also appointed as advisers to the Trustees of the Scheme with effect from 23 February 1999 and acknowledged receipt of the Notice of Appointment on 8 March 1999.

23. During 1999, negotiations took place for the disposal of PHL and PL.
24. On 14 April 1999, during the disclosure process and sale negotiations and prior to the completion of the sale of PHL, Eversheds (who were advising the former owners on the sale) wrote to the current owners' solicitors stating:
"As I understand you are aware, it is anticipated that bonuses totalling in the region of £500,000 will be paid to employees of Pointing Limited at or around completion. To the extent that such bonuses are pensionable, they will impact on the funding of this scheme."

25. An attendance note written by Vincent Dowling of Sedgwick Noble Lowndes - now Marsh Financial Services Ltd (Marsh), the Scheme's pension consultant, documents a telephone conversation on 15 April 1999 he had with Gill Brown, an employee of PL and a trustee of the Scheme. This indicates that Gill Brown told him that Mr Macklin had informed her that the Bonus was pensionable. It goes on:

"Gill enquired as to what effect the bonuses would have on the pension scheme. I explained that assuming the bonuses were pensionable (I asked her to clarify this point) all other things being equal they will increase the scheme liabilities and increase the cost and the deficit.
I asked Gill if she and/or John would send me details of the individual bonuses and I would ask the actuary to establish their effect.

I also asked her to establish the date the bonuses were paid as this will be an important issue."

26. PHL and PL were sold on 19 April 1999. On this date Mr Ralph Pickles was appointed Chief Executive Officer of PHL and Managing Director of the Pointing Group. In a letter dated 22 April 1999 on PL headed notepaper, Mr Pickles wrote to Mr Macklin. This letter confirmed that Mr Macklin's contract of employment was terminated with effect from 20 April 1999 although he would continue to receive pay and other benefits until 30 April 2000. The letter went on to set out details as to how some of his benefits would be calculated and it included the following paragraph relating to the Bonus:

"The company can also confirm all emoluments payable to you under your contract of employment (including the phantom share bonus payment) will be pensionable subject to the Trust Deed and that Pointing Ltd continues to have an obligation to fund the scheme as necessary."

27. On 28 April 1999, Mr Macklin received the bonus calculated according to the terms of the Phantom Share Agreement (the Bonus), in the form of a payment of £313,200 which was added to his normal pay. This is evidenced by the payslip dated 28 April 1999. The payslip indicates that pension contributions of 5% were deducted from Mr Macklin's basic salary, but not from the Bonus.

28. On 14 May 1999, Eversheds wrote to Marsh Financial Services confirming that they had written to the purchasers' solicitors prior to completion on 14 April 1999 and confirming the substance of that letter. They added:

"They [the purchasers' solicitors] were therefore aware prior to completion of the intended bonus payments, and I do not believe that they raised it as an issue albeit that they also knew that it would impact on the Scheme."

29. On 20 April 2000 PL and Mr Macklin executed a compromise agreement (the Compromise Agreement) relating to the termination of Mr Macklin's employment a PL. Pension rights and benefits were expressly excluded from the scope of the agreement.

30. Mr Macklin received a statement of benefits and contributions as at 1 April 2000 together with a statement of preserved benefits as at 30 April 2000. The statement of preserved benefits stated that his preserved pension at the date of leaving was £101,817.83, based on an actual salary of £400,030.87.

31. On 14 September 2000, Mr Macklin's independent financial advisor (IFA) wrote to the Trustees asking for a quotation for a cash equivalent transfer value and an analysis of how his preserved pension at the date of leaving of 30 April 2000 was calculated.

32. The Trustees responded on 28 November 2000 apologising for the delay in producing the quotation and stating that they were unable to quote the transfer value without some additional actuarial advice.

33. Following chasing letters from Mr Macklin's IFA to the Trustees on 12 December 2000, 16 January 2001. 16 March 2001 and 11 Apri12001, the Trustees provided Mr Macklin's IFA with a cash equivalent transfer value quotation on 3 May 2001.

34. The figures on the cash equivalent transfer value quotation differ significantly from those on the statement issued to Mr Macklin on his leaving the scheme on 30 April 2000. The quotation refers to a final pensionable salary of £96,665 and a potential pension of £49.675.07. The transfer value was stated to be £625,496.72 and guaranteed until 30 July 2001.

35. Mr Macklin's IFA requested a copy of the Scheme Rules on 14 May 2001 and were provided with a copy by the Trustees on 25 May 2001.

36. On 15 June 2001 Mr Macklin's IFA sent a stage one IDR complaint on behalf of Mr Macklin to the Trustees. He asked for an explanation of the difference between the figures appearing on the certificate of preserved benefits as at on 30 April 2001 and the certificate of transfer value and preserved benefits as at 30 April 2000. The IFA requested a speedy response because Mr Macklin wanted to be in a position to decide whether to take the transfer before the guarantee date had expired.

37. On 3 July 2001 the Trustees replied to Mr Macklin's IFA explaining that they did not know how much longer it would take for them to respond to his letter, but they did not think it would be too much longer.

38. Dickinson Dees were appointed as legal advisers to the Trustees under section 47 of the Pensions Act 1995 with effect from 9 July 2001.

39. Mr Macklin's IFA chased the Trustees in a letter dated 23 July 2001. The Trustees replied in an undated letter received by the IFA on 21 August 2001. This stated that the Trustees had insufficient information to make a decision as to whether the Bonus should form part of the Pensionable Salary. The Trustees asked Mr Macklin to confirm why he believed that the payment should be included.

40. Mr Macklin responded on 5 September 2001 including copies of documents and correspondence to show why Mr Macklin believed that the Bonus should be included in his pensionable salary.

41. A stage one IDR response was sent on behalf of the Scheme on 19 October 2001. This stated that the figures for Mr Macklin's benefit entitlement as set out in his certificate of preserved benefits dated 1 April 2000 were not calculated in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules. The letter explained that this was because the Bonus did not fall within the definition of Pensionable Salary for the year in question. In reaching the decision Rules S3, 10.9 and 10.7 of the Trust Deed and Rules and the membership booklet applicable to Mr Macklin had been considered.
42. Mr Macklin's IFA wrote a number of chasing letters in the meantime, particularly concerning the expiration of the guarantee period. The Trustees replied by stating that they would prepare a revised cash equivalent quotation once they had received legal advice.

43. The IFA invoked the second stage of the IDR procedure on behalf of Mr Macklin on 5 December 2001. Receipt was acknowledged by the Trustees on 7 December 2001 and a response was received on 2 April 2002. In this response the Trustees confirmed that they had decided that the Bonus ought not to be taken into account in the calculation of a benefit entitlement under the Scheme.

THE SUBMISSIONS

44. Mr Macklin and the Trustees have made submissions about various issues which I have considered in relation to each complaint in turn.

The bonus as pensionable salary

Trustees' submissions
45. The provisions of the Scheme applicable to Mr Macklin are set out in the rules of the Scheme rather than the Booklet. The wording of the Booklet states:

"The full trust deed and rules contain all the details of the scheme and how it operates, and should be referred to if there is any uncertainty or dispute. A copy is held by the Trustees and is available to scheme members"

It is clear from Redrow plc -v- Pedley [2002] 23 PBLR that in such cases, the rules of the Scheme take precedence. Therefore, the issue revolves around what are and what are not earnings in accordance with the definition of pensionable salary within S3. In considering this issue the Trustees make the submissions as set out below.

46. The normal meaning of "earnings" is pay for work or services and the Bonus was not related to services. It was payable simply on a relevant sale. It was not the aim of the Phantom Share Agreement to encourage the Complainant to enhance the value of PL by rewarding him for his efforts. Had the purpose of the Bonus been to reward service to PHL or PL it would have been payable by reference to factors that reflected the fortunes of PL or PHL. Instead the Bonus was payable if the shareholders in PHL were able to realise the value of their shares. And since payment did not depend at all on the amount realised there was no link to enhancement of value of PHL or PL. The payment did not depend on events conferring value on PHL or PL.

47. The statement of John Hammond, who was involved in the purchase of PHL on behalf of the purchasers, was submitted in evidence, on behalf of the Trustees. In his statement, Mr Hammond states that he had been made aware that Pointing had entered into a special arrangement with Mr Macklin to reward him for his support in the sale process. The arrangement was structured so that any payment was conditional upon a relevant sale being made within two years of the date of the signature and, had no sale been effected, no bonus would have been due.

48. Mr Hammond also states that the "principal Executive Officers" (the American equivalent to Company directors) from Pointing handling the transaction were Judy Pointing-Charlton and Mr John Macklin.
49. The Complainant was employed to perform duties in relation to the business of PHL and its group companies and promote their interests. The Bonus was intended as a reward for supporting the sale process.  Support of the sale process was not part of his duties of employment and so the Bonus was therefore not "earnings from the Complainant's employment" with PHL. To be a service under the Employment Agreement, the duty performed must be in relation to the business of PHL or PL.

50. The Bonus was only "earnings" if approved by the board of directors of PHL. The memorandum and articles of PHL incorporates regulation 84 of Table A of the Companies Regulations 1985. That regulation provides:

"the directors may appoint one or more of their number to the office of managing director or to any other executive office of the company... and they remunerate any such director for his services as they think fit."

51. Since Mr Macklin was an executive director, the Bonus could only be pay or remuneration and hence earnings if approved by the board of PHL. The Solicitors acting for PHL and PL have been unable to find any board minutes relating to the Bonus or any indication that the board approved the Bonus. The lack of any board approval of the Bonus is consistent with their case that the Bonus was not intended to rank as remuneration for employment.

52. The sale of PHL's shares was not part of PHL's (or PL's) business in which Mr Macklin was employed.

53. These arguments prove that the Bonus does not fall within the definition of Pensionable Salary in Supplementary Rule S3 for two reasons:

(a)
Such earnings are reward for work or services rendered to his employer in the course of his employment. As demonstrated above, the Bonus was not a reward for work or service rendered to PL or PHL in the course of employment but was a sum payable should the shareholders realise the value of their shares and was a reward for supporting such a realisation.

(b)
"Earnings" are rewards in the nature of income. The Bonus was a capital payment - it was a one off payment payable by reference to the realisation of shares.
54. Mr Macklin must either accept that the Bonus was not intended to be remuneration for his services as a director or he must continue to assert that it was intended to be such remuneration. If he accepts that the Bonus was not intended to be such remuneration then it follows that the Bonus was not earnings from his employment and so not Pensionable Salary. If on the other hand, he continues to assert that the Bonus was such remuneration, it might be, the Trustees submit, that the Phantom Share Agreement was not properly approved in accordance with the company's Articles and might consequently be void.

55. Even if the definition set out in the Booklet did take precedence, the Booklet defines Pensionable Salary by reference to salary and fluctuating emoluments. For the reasons stated above the Complainant cannot demonstrate that the Bonus was salary or a fluctuating emolument. Furthermore, it should be noted that the Booklet is dated December 1999 and is specific to Mr Macklin, but makes no reference to the Bonus.

56. Not all duties assigned to Mr Macklin by the Board necessarily fall within the definition of duties ‘in relation to the business to the Company or any Group Company.’  The Bonus was not a reward for duties in relation to the businesses of PHL or PL but was only payable on an event (sale) unconnected with the fortunes of those companies. It was a reward for supporting the sale process and not a reward for duties in relation to the business of PHL or PL.

Mr Macklin's submissions
57. The Bonus was pensionable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. There are different definitions contained in S3 of the rules of the Scheme and the Booklet issue to Mr Macklin. These are quoted in the section of this Determination entitled "Relevant Rules". As the Booklet is specific to Mr Macklin, there is good reason for arguing that the scheme booklet takes precedence over the rules. The date of the Booklet is irrelevant since it was in the process of being formatted and printed some months prior to the sale of  PL and PHL.

58. However, this point is not material since the Bonus is either a fluctuating emolument or falls within the definition of gross earnings as defined in the Scheme. It is apparent from the payslip that the Bonus was taxed under schedule E which is a broad indication that it is either gross earnings or falls in line with the definition of fluctuating emolument as stated in the Inland Revenue Practice Notes.

59. Mr Macklin refutes the Trustees' arguments that the Bonus does not come within the definition of "earnings". The aim of the Phantom Share Agreement was to encourage the Complainant to enhance the value of PL by rewarding him for his efforts. Therefore, the Bonus was related to services rendered to PL. On a related note, there is a direct causal link between the improved performance of PHL and PL and the Bonus (i.e. an increase in the share value would result in a corresponding increase in the amount of the Bonus).

60. Mr Macklin has also produced a fax which indicates that the directors' emoluments quoted in the accounts include his Bonus.

61. Mr Hammond's understanding is incorrect. The aim of the Bonus was to reward Mr Macklin for building up and expanding the Companies during the period when there was no suitable family member to manage PHL and PL. Mr Macklin's overall contribution was a significant enhancement in the value of PHL and PL which benefited the Pointing family upon the sale of the two companies. In addition, he was not involved in the sale process at all and indeed was initially against the sale.

Phantom Share Agreement 

Trustees' submissions

62. It was an implied term of the Phantom Share Agreement that the Bonus was not pensionable; alternatively there was a collateral agreement to the Phantom Share Agreement that it was not pensionable. The letter from Eversheds dated 14 May 1998 indicated that the Bonus was intended to replicate the benefits of a shareholder in the company. As such, it was obvious it was not intended to be pensionable because, if it were, Mr Macklin would have received a return greatly in excess of what he would have received had he been a shareholder.

63. The Trustees have provided evidence from Mrs Judy Dootson (formerly Judy Pointing Charlton) who was a director of PHL and executed the Phantom Share Agreement. She writes in a letter dated 4 December 2003:
"I can confirm that the Pointing Group did not confer on Mr Macklin any benefits other than those expressly and separately set out in Mr Macklin's employment contract, the applicable pension scheme rules of the Pointing Limited Pension Fund and the Phantom Share Agreement between Mr Macklin and Pointing Holdings Limited dated 17 June 1998.
With regard to the Phantom Share Agreement, I can confirm that it was the intention of the Pointing Group to incentivise Mr Macklin by conferring on him the benefit of a one-off payment due and payable on the sale of Pointing Holdings Limited (as set out in the Phantom Share Agreement) and I understand Sensient [the purchaser] has honoured that payment in full. The Phantom Share Agreement did not confer any further benefit on Mr Macklin."

64. The Trustees also provided evidence from Mr David Charlton who was a director of PHL at the time the Phantom Share Agreement was proposed and executed. In this letter he explains that the Phantom Share Agreement arose after discussions in autumn 1997 when PHL's board of directors discussed the position of Mr Macklin in the context of the sale of PHL. He explains that the board asked the Remuneration Committee, of which he was a member, to devise proposals to incentivise and retain Mr Macklin during the sale process without diluting shareholder's interests. He states in a letter also dated 4 December 2003:

"It was the intention of the Pointing Group to incentivise Mr Macklin by conferring on him the benefit of a one-off payment due and payable only on the sale of Pointing Holdings Limited) as set out in the Phantom Share Agreement) and I understand that Sensient has honoured that payment in full.
The Phantom Share Agreement did not confer any further benefit on Mr Macklin. In this connection, there was no intention to confer upon Mr Macklin any increase in the pension entitlement available to him under the Pointing Limited Pension Fund as a result of any payment he might receive under the Phantom Share Agreement and hence no actions were taken or plans made to fund any such increase in benefits.
In devising proposed arrangements for Mr Macklin, the Directors were advised by the company's solicitors and the instructions given by the Directors to the solicitors reflected the above intention. The Remuneration Committee ultimately proposed the Phantom Share Agreement to the board in response to the instructions given by the board to the committee and the Phantom Share Agreement was thereafter approved by the board."

65. In a later letter dated 15 September 2004 Mr Charlton wrote:
"The Remuneration Committee was made up of myself (a non-executive director and the two other non-executive directors of the Board. The only other directors of PHL were the two executive directors, being the Chairman, my Mother, and Mr Macklin.

In these circumstances, it was appropriate that the non-executive directors be involved in the assessment of the proposed Phantom Share Agreement. In so doing they were (as the non-executive directors) considering an issue linked to a potential sale of the Company and securing the support of a senior member of management for any such sale and were not carrying out any function of reviewing and approving remuneration for services rendered to the Company. The Remuneration Committee (which itself had only been formed on March 6 1998) did not involve itself with issues related to a potential sale of the Company"

66. Clause 3 of the Phantom Share Agreement provides that the Bonus should be equivalent to the sums that a shareholder would have received from PHL by way of return of capital, but that the Bonus should be the aggregate of that sum plus the associated tax credit that a shareholder would receive. If the Bonus were pensionable the financial return provided by PHL to Mr Macklin would greatly exceed the return that he would have received as a shareholder. It would be absurd to suppose that the parties would spell out such a precise match whilst intending that Mr Macklin would receive additional pension benefits.  

67. The definition of "Final Remuneration" in Rule I of the Scheme Rules expressly excludes amounts that arise from:

"the acquisition or disposal of shares or an interest in shares or from a right to acquire shares."

Although the status of the Bonus depended on whether the Bonus is "earnings" and the exclusion does not expressly cover notional shareholdings, it may be fairly be supposed that, given these provisions, had the parties to the Agreement intended the Bonus to be pensionable they would have expressly said so.

68. If the Bonus had been intended to be pensionable under the Phantom Share Agreement it would be expected that the company would have made a formal note in their board minutes. The Trustees have been advised by PL and PHL that a search of the companies' board minutes has been made and they cannot find any mention of the Bonus being pensionable.

69. The Trustees were not provided with a copy of the Phantom Share Agreement and that it would have been a material fact to put before the Trustees because it contained if pensionable it was a contingent benefit.

Mr Macklin's submissions
70. It was up to PHL to state in the Phantom Share Agreement whether the Bonus was pensionable, as otherwise, by implication Mr Macklin could reasonably believe it to be so.
71. The letters from Mr Charlton and Mrs Dootson do not contain significant information. Mrs Dootson's letter specifically refers to Mr Macklin's benefits under the applicable Trust Deed and Rules. He agrees that his pension should be calculated in accordance with these, but these require that the Bonus be pensionable.
72. The fact that no plans were made to fund an increase in Mr Macklin's benefits, as stated in Mr Charlton's letter, does not alter the fact that, under the rules of the Pension Scheme, the payment under the Phantom Share Agreement was included in pensionable salary and therefore increased Mr Macklin's entitlement under the Scheme.
73. If the instructions given by the directors to the solicitors clearly stated the intention not to confer an increase in pension entitlement under the rules, he would have expected that specific intention to have been stated in the Phantom Share Agreement, particularly given the rules governing the Scheme.

74. The Phantom Share Agreement merely provided an alternative method of calculating the Bonus and so the payment of the Bonus was not a notional disposal of shares, but a bonus calculated on the basis of a notional shareholding in PHL. As evidence he points to the following,
74.1. he never received shares in PHL;

74.2. the Bonus was only payable if the terms of the Phantom Share Agreement be satisfied within two years of its execution; and

74.3. the purpose behind the agreement was to persuade him to remain with PL and to continue building up the business of PL during a transitional period between generations of the Pointing family who had owned and run the Company for many years.

Letter of 22 April 1999
Trustees submissions
75. The letter of 22 April 1999 was not written on behalf of the company paying the Bonus since it was payable by PHL and the letter was written by PL. The letter cannot therefore constitute agreement between an employer and its employee as to the pensionability of payments being made by the employer. It is trite law that a company has a legal personality distinct from those who run or own it.

76. Related to this point, Mr Pickles did not have authority to agree that the Bonus was pensionable since any agreement as to remuneration had to be authorised by the board as a whole.

77. In addition, the letter merely states that the Bonus is pensionable "subject to the Trust Deed". The Trustees were not party to the letter and were not provided with a copy at the time the letter was written. They only became aware of the letter during the IDR procedure. To the extent that the letter makes a promise of a pensionable benefit, it is an issue between Mr Macklin and PL and not for the Trustees. The Trustees have therefore expressed the view that the letter does not assist in the interpretation of the provisions of the Scheme or indeed the obligations of the Trustees in making the decision.
Mr Macklin's submissions
78. The letter of 22 April 1999 confirms that PHL and PL intended the Bonus to be pensionable.

79. The letter was signed by Mr Pickles and since Mr Pickles had been appointed CEO of PHL and MD of the Pointing Group on 19 April 1999 he had the authority to sign the letter. PL and PHL acted as one company out of the same building with the same personnel. As a result there was no separate identity between the two companies.

80. The terms of the letter were known to the Trustees since two Trustees, Gill Brown and Henry Breese were involved in drafting the letter signed by Mr Pickles.

Witness Statement of Mr Pickles

Trustees' submissions
81. The Trustees have also provided a witness statement from Ralph Pickles which gives Mr Pickles' understanding of the position. In his statement, Mr Pickles states that he was Chief Executive Officer of PHL and Managing Director of PL. He explains that the letter of 22 April 1999 was written on behalf of Pointing Ltd, but was intended to encompass all of Mr Macklin's employment. He states that the final form of his letter of 22 April 1999 was different from what he had originally suggested, but was prepared by lawyers and was therefore correct.

82. Mr Pickles states that Mr Macklin told him on a few occasions that all of his remuneration was pensionable including his termination bonus, but states that he gave no further detail. He explains that he did not personally check what the rules of the Pension Scheme stipulated in relation to the Bonus, but he had understood that the words, "subject to the Trust Deed", were added to qualify Mr Macklin's entitlement to pension because Mr Macklin had asserted strongly that the Bonus was pensionable, but there was no independent information to support this. He also submits that whether it was pensionable or not depended on the rules of the scheme and what was said or written to Mr Macklin when the Bonus was awarded.

83. In addition, Mr Pickles emphasised that the aspect of the discussions that John Macklin and he had focussed upon was that the fund was technically underfunded. He claims that he was told that the deficit was due to a change in legislation and a change in actuarial rules which prevented the actuaries taking account of fund income known to be due in the future.

84. Mr Pickles also referred in his witness statement to Mr Macklin appearing to be "all out for himself'. He also referred to Mr Macklin as a forceful person who, in his opinion, "had received more than he deserved from Pointing Holdings Limited and Pointing Limited".
Mr Macklin 's submissions in relation to Mr Pickles' statement
85. When discussions were taking place over his redundancy he asked Mike Wick (the President of Warner Jenkinson, the company's new owners) whether, as the shares were pensionable, the Scheme would be placed in a difficult funding position. Mr Wick had indicated that this was not an issue, as being part of a large US company, any deficit within the Scheme could be made up from elsewhere.
86. If he were as forceful a person as Mr Pickle claims, he would have made sure that there were clearer board minutes of PL and PHL expressly confirming the pensionable status of his bonuses.
Trustees' response

87. The Trustees have stated that the problem with the board minutes is not that they are unclear, but that there are no board minutes relating to the pensionable status of the Bonus. They submit that this absence is consistent with Mr Macklin's behaviour since he had simply overlooked the need for board minutes.

Lack of Notification of the Trustees 

Trustees' submissions

88. The fact that they were not notified of certain events is evidence that the Bonus was not intended to be pensionable. In particular, they submit the following:

88.1. The Trustees were neither party to the Phantom Share Agreement nor notified when it was executed (see submissions in relation to the Phantom Share Agreement for details). If the Bonus had been pensionable it would have been a most material fact to put before the Trustees since it would be a contingent pension benefit which would alter dramatically the funding level of the Scheme. This is particularly the case because Trustees cannot require employers to make additional funding available to the Scheme in respect of a contingent benefit.

88.2. Trustees were not notified when the pension was paid and there is no record in the books of either PHL or PL that the Bonus was payable.

88.3. Trustees were not notified of the Compromise Agreement. 

Mr Macklin's submissions
89. Any general reliance on silence indicating that the Bonus was not pensionable can be      interpreted the other way (i.e. the Bonus was so obviously pensionable it was considered that no special reference should be made). It was therefore up to the company to state that the sum was not pensionable as otherwise Mr Macklin would reasonably believe that it was.

90. Specifically, the Trustees are deemed to have been notified that the Bonus was paid as it was authorised by Henry Breese who was a Trustee at the time. In addition, Ms Brown was also a Trustee at this time and she also was informed that the Bonus was pensionable. Similarly the Trustees were aware of the wording of the Compromise Agreement since Ms Brown, who signed on behalf of PL, was a Trustee of the Scheme.

91. The fact that the certificate of preserved benefits issued on 1 April 2000 included the Bonus indicates that the Bonus was deemed pensionable by PHL or PL. Furthermore, Gordon Willoughby, Chairman of Trustees, signed the certificate of preserved benefits which indicated a scale pension of £101, 817.

The Trustees ' response
92. Mr Breese, as Financial Director, was merely following the instructions of Mr   Macklin when he authorised the payment of the Bonus through the payroll system. They therefore submit that no notice can be imputed to the Trustees as a result of such notice.

93. Ms Brown who signed the Compromise Agreement, signed on behalf of PL and therefore her knowledge cannot be imputed to the Trustees. In any event, the Trustees' knowledge or lack of it in the Compromise Agreement is irrelevant since they were not parties to the Agreement.

94. Mr Macklin is incorrect in his assumption that the fact the certificate of preserved benefits dated 1 April 2000 takes account of the Bonus indicates that PHL and PL considered it pensionable. They have been informed by the solicitors acting for PHL and PL that no record has been found to suggest that the board of PHL or PL considered the pensionability of the Bonus. In addition, they have been informed that as far as PHL or PL are unaware, neither informed Sun Life that the Bonus was pensionable. Instead, Marsh passed on to Sun Life Mr Macklin's statement (relayed to it by Ms Brown in her conversation with Mr Dowling on 15 April 1999) that the Bonus was pensionable and drew up a certificate on the basis of that statement.

Additional Issues relating to the Bonus
95. Mr Macklin has stated that he obtained a verbal assurance from Mr Dowling of Sedgwicks (now Marsh), the Scheme's pension consultant that the Bonus shares were pensionable before agreeing to the terms of the Compromise Agreement.

96. Mr Macklin has also submitted that there was a second pension scheme operated by PHL which was an executive scheme for Pointing family members. He notes that a director of PHL and PL who had retired the year before and a director who had retired at the point of sale, both received large bonuses which were pensionable. He therefore submits that the pensionable status was something that the Trustees had addressed with individuals previously.

97. The Trustees respond to this by stating that the relevance of what happened in a different scheme is not understood. They also submit that in any event the bonuses to which Mr Macklin refers were expressly made pensionable.

Cherry-picking of legal advice Mr Macklin's submissions

98. A note on the Scheme accounts indicates that the Trustees have had different legal advice as to whether certain bonuses are pensionable or not. He submits that the Trustees have received legal advice from 2 firms of solicitors and chosen to follow the legal advice which operates to exclude bonuses from pensionable salary.

The Trustees' submissions

99. It is not true that in consequence of the legal advice on this issue that the Trustees decided to change legal advisers. Eversheds acted for the previous shareholders were appointed to advise the Trustees in relation to the Scheme under section 47 of the Pensions Act 199 from 23 February 1999. They were asked to advise on the pensionability of the Bonus and on 31 January 2001 advised that the Bonus was pensionable subject to two caveats:

99.1. Eversheds did not have a full set of documentation and there was a Deed of Variation which clarified the position

99.2. Circumstances surrounding the payment of the Bonus (e.g. Employees were informed at the time that the Bonus was not pensionable).

100. The Trustees explained that there was no deed of variation. However, PL and PHL took their own advice and took the view that the Bonus was not pensionable. The Trustees became concerned because Eversheds in advising the Trustees on the issue did not inform them that they also acted for PHL, PL, Mr Macklin (advising him on the compromise agreement) and previous shareholders.

101. The Trustees therefore appointed Dickinson Dees who they state has not acted for Mr Macklin, PHL, PL or the current owners of those companies and shareholders.

Mr Macklin's response

102. Eversheds had only acted for the former owners of PHL and PL in drafting of the Phantom Share Agreement and only acted for him in advising on the Compromise Agreement. As a minor issue Mr Macklin points out that Dickinson Dees have previously acted for a subsidiary of PHL.

Delay

Mr Macklin 's submissions

103. Mr Macklin has submitted that the Trustees have delayed dealing with Mr Macklin's advisers and have required chasing on a number of occasions. In particular Mr Macklin has expressed concern that the Trustees' delay may have prejudiced his position because the principal employer may have ceased trading and the Scheme may have to wind-up at a time when economic conditions are not as favourable as they were in September 2000 when he made his first request for a transfer value.

104. Mr Macklin has submitted that no reduction to his transfer value should be made on the basis that at the time Mr Macklin requested a transfer value no reduction to cash equivalent transfer values was being made by the Trustees and any reduction which the Trustees attempted to apply has arisen solely as a result of the Trustees' delay and failure to comply with duties.

105. Mr Macklin has submitted that if the Scheme is underfunded so that only reduced Transfer Values are being paid the application of such reduction should not apply to him.

The Trustees' submissions

106. The Trustees express regret and recognise that there was some delay in dealing with Mr Macklin's complaint. However, they submit that such delay was unavoidable given the detailed investigations required to consider Mr Macklin's points in good faith.

107. The Trustees are not aware of any loss caused to Mr Macklin by the delay and that Mr Macklin was not shown any loss caused by Mr Macklin. They also note that whilst PHL and PL are not actively trading, the Scheme is continuing to be supported in respect of on-going funding.
CONCLUSIONS

Bonus as pensionable salary
108. Having reviewed the evidence I have concluded that the Bonus should be taken into account in the calculation of Mr Macklin's Final Pensionable Salary. I have set out below the reasoning for this conclusion.

Trust Deed and Rules
109. In order for the Bonus to be pensionable it was essential that it fell within the definition of Pensionable Salary within the rules governing the Scheme. If it had not done so, it would not have been necessary to consider any further submission on this issue.

110. I have accepted the Trustees' argument that the key documents are the Trust Deed and Rules rather than the Booklet. I have taken this view because even though the booklet was personalised for Mr Macklin, the Booklet nonetheless contained the proviso that where there was a dispute the Trust Deed and Rules take precedence. This means that in order to be pensionable, the Bonus had to fall within the definition of gross earnings. Because Mr Macklin's benefits were limited by Inland Revenue requirements, the Bonus also had to fall within the Inland Revenue definition of fluctuating emoluments.

111. The Trustees have argued that, although the Bonus was taxed under Schedule E, it does not fall within the definition of earnings. They have argued that:

111.1 the Bonus was not related to services and the sale of PHL's shares was not part of PHL's  or PL's business for which Mr Macklin was employed; and

111.2 there were no board resolutions on behalf of either PHL or PL awarding the Bonus as remuneration.

112. However, the definition for services within Mr Macklin's Employment Agreement is very wide (see paragraph 13 above), as are the objects of PHL as set out in its Memorandum of Association (see paragraph 15 above).  The argument set out in paragraph 56 that not every duty assigned to an Employee by the Board of the Company can be regarded as a duty to be performed in relation to the business of PHL or PL is specious. It is clear that as part of his duties he was expected to smooth the sale process.

113. Furthermore, provision was made under the terms of Mr Macklin's Employment Agreement, for bonuses to be paid (see paragraph 16 above). Clearly the value of the Bonus reflected the fortunes of PHL and PL, even if the payment depended on  whether these companies were sold. Indeed, the letter from David Charlton of 4 December 2003 which states that the aim of the Bonus was to incentivise Mr Macklin supports the view that the Bonus was a reward for Mr Macklin's services under the Employment Agreement.

114. The Trustees' second submission is also contradicted by the letter that they submitted from Mr Charlton. This states that the Bonus was awarded by a remuneration committee which was appointed by the Board. David Charlton was both a board member and a member of that remuneration committee, and I see no reason to question his understanding of events. Nor am I convinced by the later letter (written only after the Respondents had seen the first three sentences of the paragraph) that his original letter was incorrect.

115. Having concluded that the Bonus fell within the definition of Pensionable Salary as set out in the Trust Deed and Rules, I have briefly considered whether it falls within the Inland Revenue definition (if it does not, it will be excluded). I have noted that the Inland Revenue definition excludes remuneration which arises from the acquisition or disposal of shares or an interest in shares or from a right to acquire shares or anything in respect of which tax is chargeable by virtue of section 148 of the Act. However, the Trustees acknowledge that this does not exclude the Bonus which is merely calculated on a notional shareholding. Therefore, I have concluded that there is no reason that the Bonus should not fall within the definition of Pensionable Salary. Therefore, in order to show that the Bonus was not pensionable, the Trustees needed to show that it was excluded from being so by another agreement.

Phantom Share Agreement
116. I do not agree with the Trustees' view that it was an implied term of the contract (or alternatively a collateral term) that the Bonus was not pensionable. It may be the case that, had PHL and PL properly considered the issue, it would have included a clause within the Phantom Share Agreement that the Bonus was not to be pensionable. However, this does not mean that there is an implied clause that the Bonus was not pensionable. I can see no reason why Mr Macklin, the other party to the agreement, would not have assumed that this Bonus like other bonuses he had been paid would be pensionable. I do not see how any implication can be drawn that he should have regarded the Bonus as non pensionable.

117. Furthermore, there is not a clear intention on the part of the company that the Bonus was not pensionable. Although I note Eversheds' letter of 14 May 1998, 1 also note in the disclosure letter dated 14 April 1999, they referred to ‘year end bonuses’ and to Mr Macklin's bonus and said that 'to the extent that such bonuses are pensionable they will impact on funding.'

Letter of 22 April 1999
118. The letter of 22 April 1999 supports Mr Macklin's case that the Bonus was pensionable. The Trustees' submission that Mr Pickles did not have authority to sign this letter is not supported by Mr Pickles' witness statement (see paragraphs 78 above). I have concluded that Mr Pickles had authority to do so and it seems clear that the board delegated to him the responsibility of agreeing the terms of termination of Mr Macklin's contract.

119. 1 am not impressed by Mr Pickles' arguments that Mr Macklin had been forceful in requiring that this clause be put in the letter nor that he had understood that the words "subject to the Trust Deed" had been added to qualify Mr Macklin's entitlement. Mr Pickles may indeed have found Mr Macklin forceful, but PHL and PL were terminating Mr Macklin's contract. There is no reason why Mr Macklin should not have acted forcefully to negotiate the best terms possible for his termination. As Mr Pickles explains, PHL and PL were represented by lawyers and as I have noted above, the new owners of PHL and PL had been made aware during the disclosure process that the bonuses might be pensionable. There can be no justifiable claim that PHL and PL were at a disadvantage in these negotiations.

Lack of Notification
120. The Trustees have also attempted to argue that they should have been notified if the Bonus was pensionable. I agree that it may be have been useful if the Bonus had been notified, especially since it was for the Trustees to set the level of contributions. However, there was no requirement formally to notify the Trustees that the Bonus had been paid. Informal notification that the Bonus was to be paid had taken place since, in their roles as employees within the company, Henry Breese and Gill Brown were both aware of the payment of the Bonus and so as Trustees in a practical sense had been notified. Indeed, the fact that Ms Brown informed the Scheme's Pension Consultant that the Bonus was pensionable (see telephone conversation on 15 April 1999), indicated that the impact on the funding position of the pension scheme was considered.

Additional Issues
121. Although the Bonus was taxed under Schedule E and I believe falls within the definition of gross earnings, I notice that the 5% contribution to the Scheme does not appear to have been deducted from Mr Macklin's Bonus. Clearly since the Bonus was pensionable, this contribution should have been deducted.
Cherry picking of legal advice
122. I conclude that there has been no maladministration in relation to this issue. The Trustees have explained that they became uncomfortable with Eversheds as legal advisers as a result of the perceived conflicts between their role as advisers to the Trustees, PHL and PL and, in relation to the Compromise Agreement, Mr Macklin. It seems to me reasonable in the circumstances for the Trustees to have sought other legal advice and therefore I do not uphold Mr Macklin's complaint in this respect.

Delays

123. Mr Macklin has also complained about the delays of the Trustees in relation to this matter. The Trustees were slow in answering Mr Macklin's queries. However, although there has certainly been maladministration, in the light of my finding that the Bonus was pensionable, I have concluded that Mr Macklin has not suffered injustice as a result of these delays.

DIRECTIONS

124. Within 28 days of Mr Macklin paying to the Trustees 5% of the Bonus as a contribution to the Scheme together with interest calculated at the daily rate of the reference banks from the date of payment of the bonus to the date of paying the contribution to the Trustees, Mr Macklin shall be entitled to a preserved pension calculated on the basis that the Bonus is included within the definition of Pensionable Salary. Interest shall be paid on any arrears of pension payments due to him at the daily rate quoted by the reference banks.

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

12 January 2006
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